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I. Introduction

“’Emotional Distress Suits Face New Standard - 2 Justices Accuse Court Majority of Sexism
” and “Court Unkind to Women
” charged Texas headlines in May 1993.  The headlines referred to opinions, issued by the Texas Supreme Court on May 5, 1993, concerning two cases filed by women
  who felt wronged by men in their lives.  Was the Court “insensitiv[e] to the exploitation of [ ] women
” as the articles charged?  Why did the Court reverse the decisions of the lower courts?  Was it the correct application of the law?  
This paper compares two tort actions brought by Sheila Twyman and Gayle Massey against their husbands.  Both claimed that their husbands inflicted emotional distress on them during the course of their marriages.  Sheila’s award of $15,000 was reversed on appeal, while Gayle received $362,000.  Yet, the facts underlying Sheila’s claim seem much more outrageous than Gayle’s allegations against her husband.  What made the difference?
A. The Marriage
Sheila, a young college graduate with a nursing degree
, believed she had put the trauma of being raped at knife-point behind her, and found her happily-ever-after when she married William Twyman, a Navy pilot
 in 1969.  What she did not know it at the time was that the seeds for the ultimate breakdown of the marriage lay in a fundamental difference between the two of them, one that hit at the very heart of their marital relationship.  
In 1975, five years into their marriage, Sheila first found out about William’s predilection for sexual bondage.  At his request, on two or three occasions, the couple engaged in “light bondage
” which involved tying each other to the bed with neckties during sexual relations.  William did not force Sheila to participate in these activities.  And, when Sheila finally told him that she did not enjoy them, that she associated them with the memory of being raped at knife-point earlier in her life, he did not ask her to engage in such activities again.  This was the first time she told William about her traumatic experience.  It appeared that he understood her reluctance.  Indeed, the subject was not discussed between them for the next ten years.   
In 1985, Sheila found out that William was consulting a psychologist.  When she questioned him about it, he confessed that he was having an affair, and that his girlfriend was willing to engage in sexual bondage with him.  He also told her that his infidelity was a result of her failure to accommodate his sexual needs, and “that if [she] could just have done bondage, nothing else would have mattered.”
  Sheila sought help from the psychologist William was seeing in an effort to save their marriage.  On his suggestion, she and William discussed his bondage fantasies, and she tried to participate in bondage activities with William.  These attempts were not successful, and in fact, their last encounter, even though it did not involve bondage, was so rough that she was injured to the point of bleeding.  On William’s part, he promised he would not see his girlfriend any more.  But Sheila later found out that he was in touch with her.  Sheila consulted three different counselors in an attempt to resolve their differences.  
However, instead of attempting to work through their issues, William’s focus seemed more on persuading Sheila that her inability to satisfy him was the sole cause of their marital problems.  He repeatedly “made derogatory remarks to [her] about her sexual ability, comparing her to his girlfriend.”
  He continually suggested that there was “something wrong with her for not engaging in such activities” and told her that “when he was out of town he visited stores selling bondage paraphernalia and that ‘women in their mink coats and men in their three-piece business suits purchased these items.’
”  He even told her that “he had visited ‘sex parlors’ and that there had been other women besides his current girlfriend.”
 
To William, the problem was Sheila’s, the solution was in her hands, and he saw no need to control his activities.  In fact, one day, Sheila returned home and opened a closet to find her husband inside it, hanging upside down wearing a black leather sensory deprivation suit.  His girl-friend had tied him up and left him there.
  During this same period, their ten year old son found magazines William had kept hidden, magazines that depicted sadomasochistic activities.  
During this period, Sheila claimed that “she experienced utter despair, devastation, pain, humiliation and weight loss because of William's affair and her feelings that the marriage could have survived if only she had engaged in bondage activities.  She lost 30 pounds and “lived in fear of contracting AIDS and other venereal diseases.”

Sheila first separated and filed for divorce against William in 1985, after she found out that William was having an affair.  In 1987, she amended her divorce petition to include a claim for infliction of emotional distress.  After a bench trial, she received $15,000 dollars plus interest as damages for her pain and suffering, in addition to her portion of the marital estate.     
In 1989, another Texas couple went to trial in Houston.  Gayle Massey sued her husband Henry for the infliction of emotional distress when she filed for divorce after twenty-two years of marriage.  Henry was a bank manager, while Gayle had stayed at home to take care of their two children.  According to Gayle, during the course of their marriage, Henry “constantly engaged in verbal abuse such as criticism and blaming, and belittled [Gayle] in front of her children.”
 
Henry [was] prone to explosive behavior. . . .  In anger, Henry once threw a towel at Gayle, sprayed beer on her, screamed at her because she could not drive a boat, slammed a door so hard it gouged a hole in the wall, threw a cup of coffee at the wall, broke a nutcracker, and pulled food from the refrigerator onto the floor. Henry tightly controlled the couple's finances and strictly limited the money he allowed Gayle to spend.  When he correctly suspected Gayle was having an affair, he angrily confronted her and her lover. When he feared Gayle was drinking too much, he went through her garbage looking for evidence. When she filed for divorce, he threatened to take custody of their children and tell her friends about her affair.

Following a jury trial, Gayle was awarded $362,000 in damages for the torts of negligent and intentional infliction of emotional distress. 
II. Social and Legal Backdrop

A. No-Fault Divorce
Until the 1960s divorces in the Unites States could be obtained only through adversarial proceedings, in which a divorcing spouse had to establish proof of the other’s fault.
  Originally the only admissible grounds for a divorce were adultery, cruelty or desertion.
  Over time some states allowed drunkenness, imprisonment, impotence or insanity to name a few, as additional grounds upon which to obtain a divorce.
  An additional restriction was that only an “innocent spouse” could file for divorce.
  As a result a husband and wife would often collude and commit perjury to prove that marital misconduct occurred.
  Some of the main criticisms of this fault-based system, and the arguments supporting a move towards no-fault divorce proceedings, were that fault divorce proceedings fostered an atmosphere of hostility and distress between the parties involved in the divorce, including the children; that the traditional fault based divorce grounds brought a “trail of perjury and subterfuge” into the courts; and that “the basic notions of marriage and divorce had changed” so that the traditional fault divorces no longer accurately reflected the modern concept of marital relations.
 Thus, in the 1960s following a “reevaluation of marriage and divorce in the light of more liberal attitudes,” a movement began towards abolishing the fault requirement for divorces.
  
California was the first state to adopt a no-fault divorce statutory scheme, but other states soon followed.
  Following the adoption of the no-fault divorce laws, spouses were allowed to claim merely that the marriage was “irretrievably broken” or that there were “irreconcilable differences” to successfully obtain a divorce. 
 Today most of the 50 states have a no-fault provision to their divorce statutes.
  In addition to no-fault divorces, some states have incorporated a no-fault approach to the division of the marital estate and spousal support.
  

Texas enacted laws in 1970 that permitted divorcing spouses to obtain no-fault divorces without repealing the existing fault statutes.  As a result, in Texas, spouses could choose to file for a fault divorce
 or a no-fault divorce on grounds of “insupportability.”
 Similarly, Texas did not eliminate the fault grounds upon which a spouse could seek to obtain a disproportionate division of the community property.  Thus, under Texas law, the courts had wide discretion in dividing the community property of the parties, based upon a number of applicable factors, one of which was fault in the breakup of the marriage.
  Also, under Texas law, a litigant in a divorce case could demand a jury trial.
  In such a case, the judge would award the division of the marital estate, while the jury decided fact questions such as the characterization of property as community or separate, valuation of property, or fault in the breakup of the marriage.
 
B. Spousal Emotional Abuse Torts

Originating in early English common law, the doctrine of interspousal immunity was based on the legal fiction that “a husband and wife are one person.”
  As a result, a wife could not sue her husband because that would, in effect, be a husband suing himself.  At that time public policy justified retention of the doctrine on the grounds that “allowing such torts would ‘disrupt the peace and harmony of the home,’ and lead to collusive lawsuits by spouses.”
  More recently, the immunity doctrine has been abolished.
  Today, “offensive conduct” within a marriage that causes physical injury is generally actionable in tort.
  
However, given that as a society, we have moved towards no-fault divorces as a matter of policy, how do we deal with “offensive conduct” within a marriage that has not caused serious physical injury?  A number of states allow spouses to sue one another for “marital misconduct” such as infliction of emotional distress.
  Liability for emotional distress arises when a defendant, by “extreme or outrageous conduct intentionally or recklessly cause[s] severe emotional distress” to the plaintiff.
  The victim need not prove any physical manifestation of the distress.
  Furthermore, it is not necessary to prove actual intent to cause the distress; but only intent to commit the act that produced it.
  “Emotional distress” or “mental anguish” includes “all highly unpleasant mental reactions, such as fright, horror, grief, shame, humiliation, embarrassment, anger, chagrin, disappointment, worry, and nausea.”
  
Traditionally, common law has been skeptical of claims of negligent infliction of emotional distress, where a person’s reckless conduct caused another emotional distress only.  And so often before a court would allow recompense for injuries as a result of another’s negligent conduct, the plaintiff would have to establish some physical contact or impact that caused emotional distress.
  Over time, that impact requirement was abandoned.
  Today there are at least three categories of cases in which courts have compensated claims for negligent infliction of emotional distress.
 These categories include circumstances where there is a contractual duty for the mental wellbeing of the plaintiff, a classic example of which is the mishandling of the corpses of a loved one; where there are established, recognized torts with emotional distress as an element of damages; and finally, limited bystander claims, where the plaintiff has suffered emotional damages as a result of witnessing a tort to another.
 
The problem with allowing negligent infliction of emotional distress claims between spouses is the qualification of the cause of the distress.  “Emotionally wounding” situations occur in the lifespan of most, if not at all, marriages.
  Such situations can range from habitually forgetting a spouse’s birthday or the couple’s anniversary to being indifferent to the other’s emotional needs or carelessly rude to the other in the presence of friends.
  Consider also a situation where one spouse simply fell out of love with the other, and in love with another person – would that qualify as negligent infliction of emotional distress?  Whether or not it does such situations exemplify the problems in allowing such claims to be adjudicated, when a simpler solution would be a divorce.  Another more practical option to consider might be  to recognize the claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress for the more egregious cases of spousal emotional abuse.
  The problem lies in identifying what would constitute sufficiently egregious conduct. 
The key difference between negligent and emotional infliction of emotional distress is the “outrageousness” of the action.
  Thus, §46 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts describes the elements of the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress as follows:  “(1) an intentional or reckless act that is (2) extreme and outrageous, and (3) causes (4) severe emotional distress.”
  To establish the intent element of the tort it is sufficient to prove not “actual intent to cause the distress, but merely the intent to commit the act that produced it.”
  This tort has generally been used, to enforce a “minimal requirement of decency and fair procedure” in business relationships such as between an employer and employee or a landlord and tenant.
 

In a marital context, the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress allows spouses to recover damages for conduct that a jury finds outrageous.  Profs. Ellman and Sugarman in their article on spousal emotional abuse address the pros and cons of allowing intentional infliction tort claims in a marital context.
  The article discusses the policy arguments in favor of allowing such a tort, such as the consideration that if a function of tort law is to establish standards of conduct for the community then allowing recovery for marital victims of intentional torts should further that goal.  Another related function of tort law, that of punishing wrong-doing and empowering victims, also supports allowing spousal emotional abuse victims recovery through the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress. Finally, they acknowledge the fact that this tort has been used in cases of “dominant-dependent relationships,” particularly in a business setting, make it apt for a marital setting with a similar type of dominant-dependent relationship. 

Alternatively, some of the arguments against recognizing these torts of spousal emotional abuse include the fear that allowing such torts in a divorce suit will undermine some of the purposes of no-fault divorces, primarily the purpose of taking the hostility and assignment of blame out of the process.  However, it must be acknowledged that this argument would not be pertinent in states such as Texas where fault remains an alternate ground for divorce and where is can be fault in the breakup of the relationship can be a factor in the division of the marital property.  
Another important consideration against allowing spousal emotional abuse tort is the lack of precise guidelines in defining it.  If one of the goals of tort law is to deter socially unacceptable behavior, how much guidance does a rule, that sets outrageousness as the threshold for unacceptable conduct, provide? As the article argues, and this paper illustrates, often a spouse will tolerate outrageous behavior for a significant length of time before finally objecting.  In such situations, how can communities set standards for deterring such conduct?  Thus, the fundamental problem with such cases is “the difficulty in practice of establishing a fair and judicially administrable standard of outrageous conduct in the marital setting.”
  As this paper seeks to illustrate through its discussion of Twyman and Massey, such standards do not presently exist. 
C. Insurance Coverage
Generally, persons who own a residence are insured by their homeowners’ policy.  This policy generally covers liability for any negligent acts committed by the homeowner, but intentional acts are not covered by such policies, and never have been.  Thus, in tort claims, a plaintiff will often choose to make a “twisted classification of [the] conduct” in an attempt “to bring a claim within insurance coverage.”
  This is because “an insured claim has greater settlement value to the plaintiff . . . simply because of the legal status of the insurers” and their duties “to act in good faith and to handle settlement negotiations reasonably.”
  Another possible abuse of insurance coverage occurs when divorcing spouses demand that their homeowner insurance carriers provide them with attorneys in their divorce actions that also include claims of the negligent infliction of emotional distress.
  These negligent infliction claims and subsequent demand for coverage are being extended even to post-divorce custody disputes.
  The problem with allowing insurance coverage for negligent infliction claims is the relative lack of foreseeability and the difficulty in valuing these emotional distress claims.
  Furthermore, insurance companies must obtain regulatory approval if they seek to amend insurance coverage and exclude coverage for negligently inflicted emotional distress claims.  State insurance commissions may choose to allow this exclusion or deny it based on their determination of what is in the interests of public policy.
  The greater risk of manipulation of litigation claims in these sorts of cases would suggest ultimately that some sort of limitation would be required for those cases that allow such torts of negligent infliction of emotional distress.

. . .
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III. The Cases
A. Pre-Trial and Trial Court Proceedings 
1. Twyman v. Twyman
Sheila retained Edwin “Ted” Terry, Jr., a divorce attorney of some renown in Austin, Texas to represent her interests in the divorce
.  She had originally filed for divorce in 1985 but had not proceeded with the suit until almost two years later
.  In that same year, the Texas Supreme Court abolished the doctrine of interspousal immunity
, thereby opening the door to potential suits between spouses.  Less than a month after publication of the Court’s opinion, Sheila amended her original complaint
 to add “a general claim for emotional harm without specifying whether the claim was based on negligent or intentional infliction of emotional distress.” 
  
Her allegations, as stated in the pleading, were that William had “‘intentionally and cruelly attempted to have [her] engage in deviant sexual acts with [him]’ and such conduct caused her emotional harm and mental anguish.” 
  In spite of that language, Terry tried the case under the theory of negligent infliction of emotional distress, and as a result, the trial court specifically found in favor of Sheila for negligent infliction of emotional distress.

The decision not to specifically allege intentional infliction of emotional distress (in spite of the language of the complaint) was a deliberately strategic and crucial decision in the case
.  Terry made that judgment call because he felt that the facts more easily supported a claim of negligent infliction of emotional distress. The elements of such a claim are that a plaintiff “must show ‘the tortfeasor acted knowingly or with conscious indifference, causing a relatively high degree of mental pain and distress, such as a mental sensation of pain resulting from such painful emotions as grief, severe disappointment, indignation, wounded pride, shame, despair, or public humiliation.’”
 In contrast, to establish a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress, the plaintiff must prove that the tortfeasor acted intentionally or recklessly and that his extreme and outrageous conduct caused the plaintiff severe emotional distress.
  
Although it might have been a reasonable assumption that considerations of insurance were a factor
 in the decision to focus only negligent infliction of emotional distress, James LaRue, Terry’s associate, made it clear that that was not a factor in the decision at all.
  For Sheila, the tort claim was not about the money.
  What she sought from a ruling in her favor was some sort of validation that what William had done was wrong, that his behavior towards her was wrong.
  

Another almost equally critical decision was Terry’s choice to waive a jury trial.  Judge Bill Coker was a visiting judge from Dallas, a much more conservative town than Austin.
  Terry believed it was to Sheila’s advantage to keep the decision-making in Coker’s hands, and out of the hands of a much more “unpredictable jury.”  According to James LaRue, Terry’s associate, Terry did not want to insert any “uncertainty” into the trial, as might be the case with a jury.
  Obviously, as LaRue previously indicated, the amount of the award was not a factor in the decision, since it was a reasonable assumption that a judge would award a lesser amount in damages than a jury.  
This strategy seemed to pay off in the short-term, especially since it was obvious that Coker did not like William.
  In fact, Sheila’s attorneys thought that they received a key advantage when Fowler, William’s attorney did not seek to strike Coker from the case.  Perhaps he should have, because although Fowler considered Coker a fair, painstaking judge,
 Coker himself was not impressed with William.  He found William extremely manipulative,
 especially with regard to his behavior towards Sheila.  In contrast, Sheila was a very sympathetic plaintiff.  Everyone who met her liked her.
  LaRue, Terry’s associate remembers Sheila as truly an “innocent spouse.”
  He described her as a “nice person, who didn’t stand up for herself.”
  She had suffered health problems during the course of the marriage, possibly even cancer.  
Also to be considered was the issue that a jury trial was relatively more expensive than a bench trial.  Neither Sheila nor William was wealthy.
  From William’s point of view, waiving a jury trial made more sense.  According to Roger Fowler, his trial attorney, there was not much dispute as to the facts themselves and those facts certainly did not help William’s case.  In fact a jury might even have given Sheila more!
  
The only witnesses to testify were Sheila and William.  His girl friend was not called to the stand.
  Although the language of the tort claim was merely infliction of emotional distress, Terry presented a case for negligent infliction of emotional distress.  At the end of the bench trail, Judge Coker dissolved the marriage, and divided the marital estate.
  Sheila received a disproportionate share of the community property, custody of the children, and child support.  Finally, with regard to the tort claims, Judge Coker awarded Sheila $15,000 plus interest as damages for the negligent infliction of emotional distress
.  Judge Coker found that, “William ‘attempted to emotionally coerce [Sheila] in ‘bondage’ on an ongoing basis ...’ and ‘engaged in a continuing course of conduct of attempting to coerce her to join in his practices of ‘bondage’ by continually asserting that their marriage could be saved only by [Sheila] participating with him in his practices of ‘bondage.’’”

But Sheila’s and William’s story did not end there. William angered at the trial court’s ruling was determined to appeal judgment against him. 

B. Massey v. Massey

In 1989, about two years after the trial in Twyman, but before the First District Court of Appeals issued an opinion in the matter, Gayle Massey filed for divorce from her husband, Henry.  She retained John Nichols, Sr. to represent her. 

Nichols had a background in insurance defense in addition to his family law experience.  He had tried numerous personal injury cases before a jury including a number of divorce suits.
  However, it was a divorce action in which he represented the husband, Jerry Chiles that would give him unique insight into how to best serve Gayle Massey’s interests. 
   Patti, Jerry Chiles’ wife of twenty-two months filed suit for divorce in 1987.
  In her divorce action, she included a claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress, and won an award of $500,000 on that claim.
  On appeal, Nichols argued before the 14th District Court of Appeals, that there was no cause of action for a claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress in a divorce action.  
In 1989 when Gayle Massey filed for divorce from her husband, Henry, the court of appeals had not yet issued an opinion in Chiles.
  Gayle included claims for both negligent and intentional infliction of emotional distress and asked for $2 million dollars in damages for those tort claims.  Don Royall, Henry’s attorney, failed to object to the claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress.
  If he had entered an objection, there would have been an evidentiary hearing at which the judge would have heard the evidence and determined whether there was sufficient evidence to support a prima facie case on the issue of “outrageousness”  - was the conduct in question outrageous enough to fall outside the bounds of norms of ordinary human behavior.
  We can only speculate now on what a judge might have decided had he conducted an evidentiary hearing on the issue of the outrageousness of Henry’s conduct.  Royall’s failure to file that objection was a critical error that affected the final outcome in the case. 
Gayle alleged that Henry’s controlling behavior and verbal abuse constituted negligent infliction but that his actions escalated from mere negligence to intentional infliction of emotional distress after he discovered in the course of marriage counseling that she had had an affair.
  Since Gayle had not worked during the twenty-two years of their marriage, she also sought a disproportionate division of the marital estate. 
Unlike Terry in Tywman, Nichols made the decision to request a jury trial, in part because he was not sure that he could win the case on a bench trial, and also because he believed that a judge would most likely award less damages than a jury.  Also a consideration was that Henry’s attorney, Don Royall, was an experienced family law practitioner, who might have had less familiarity with defending a tort.

Part of Nichols’ success in the tort case could probably be attributed directly to his presentation of the case.  One tactic Nichols used with great success was to put the spotlight on Henry’s actions during the marriage.
  The word ‘CONTROL’ was written on an easel and left in front of the jury.  To convince the jury of the merits of Gayle Massey’s claim, Nichols had to prove to them that Henry had an explosive temper and could be subject to uncontrollable rage.  Given that Henry was on his best behavior in front of the jury – the respectable bank president, Nichols had to break through that self-control. 
In order to give the jury a glimpse behind the façade, Nichols made a calculated decision not to challenge Henry during his direct examination.  Nichols allowed Royall to question Henry about his alleged hot temper, which Henry denied.  As a result of the direct examination, Henry came across as very calm and controlled.  In fact, as Nichols recalls, at one point the judge asked if he knew what he was doing and whether he wanted to object to some possibly leading  questions.  By the time Nichols stood up to cross-examine Henry, Henry was comfortable and even a little self-confident on the witness stand.
Nichols began to question Henry about an incident that occurred when he had been at home watching a game and asked Gayle to fetch him a diet Coke.  Since there was no diet Coke in the house, she brought him a regular Coke.  Gayle told Nichols that at that point Henry lost his temper, and completely “trashed” the kitchen.  Gayle took pictures of that destruction, and left one copy for Henry to see.  He destroyed that photo and was confident that no other record existed.  So, when Nichols questioned him about the incident, he denied it had ever happened.  When Nichols attempted to impeach him with the evidence presented by a photo of the destroyed kitchen, instead of trying to rationally explain the photo (and perhaps the incident) away, he completely lost control.  The jury saw for themselves the kind of behavior to which Gayle had been subjected.  
Given this evidence, combined with the very subjective standards of the limiting jury instruction,
 perhaps it was not surprising that the jury returned a verdict of $362,000 for the intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress and entered a finding of fault against Henry for cruel treatment or intentional infliction of emotional distress.
  Although it had been requested, the jury did not award separate punitive damages.
  

Henry was very unhappy with the outcome of the case.  Royall withdrew as counsel with Henry’s permission immediately after the final divorce decree was entered.  Henry also filed at least 25 grievances with the State Bar complaining about Royal’s representation in his divorce action and ultimately filed a legal malpractice suit against Royall.
  In the meantime, Henry retained John Mercer and Theodore Flick to represent him in his appeal.  

IV. The Court of Appeals

A. Twyman v. Twyman

William’s attorney, Roger Fowler, was surprised by the trial court’s favorable ruling on Sheila’s tort claim which he believed created new law.
  William, however, was angry with the ruling
.  By this time he was in law school,
 and he firmly believed that the judge had incorrectly applied the existing law.
  Thus, he immediately sought to appeal the lower court’s decision.  Roger Fowler continued to represent William in his appeal.  William appealed the trial court’s decision on a number of grounds,
  including the “public policy” question of whether interspousal immunity bars the joinder of negligent torts such as infliction of emotional distress claims with a divorce suit.
  The court of appeals liberally construed William’s argument to make this point.  William’s actual allegation was that “the trial court erred in granting a tort judgment because there [was] no evidence [William] breached any duty owed to [Sheila] that was the proximate cause of any mental anguish suffered by petitioner.”
  

James LaRue, Terry’s associate, still believes that the appellate courts should not have heard William’s appeal on the grounds that Fowler failed to make any objection in the trial court regarding the allowance of infliction of emotional distress as a cause of action.
  The appellate court’s reported opinion does not discuss whether William correctly preserved any issue was correctly preserved for appellate review, but it certainly seems to broadly read William’s appeal.
  This issue was briefly addressed in the Supreme Court. 
In reaching its conclusion, the court of appeals distinguished Chiles, a opinion issued from the Fourteenth Court of Appeals, its sister court in Houston.  In Chiles,
 the that appellate court held that “interspousal immunity barred a separate cause of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress in divorce suits.”
  The Twyman appellate court disagreed with the analysis in Chiles, concluding that Price did in fact abolish interspousal immunity as to all causes of action, and as a result it upheld the trial court’s finding of negligent infliction of emotional distress in a divorce suit.
  
When William appealed the decision of the Court of Appeals he retained an attorney more experienced in appellate matters, Douglas Becker, to represent his interests before the Supreme Court.  The Court accepted the writ of error, and now, William had one last chance to prove his argument.  
For Sheila, however, the Court’s acceptance of certiorari seemed to spell the death knell of her case.  As James LaRue stated, “When the Supreme Court accepted cert [sic], we knew that we had lost.
”  In his opinion, the only reason the Supreme Court granted the application for writ of error was to reverse the lower court’s decision.  
B. Massey v. Massey 

Henry Massey retained new counsel, Jon Mercer and Theodore Flick, on appeal.
  His argument on appeal was that under Chiles, Texas did not recognize the infliction of emotional distress without physical injury, particularly in a divorce suit.  He also challenged the jury’s finding that his conduct rose to the level of “outrageous.”  And finally, he argued that his divorce action should have been severed from the tort action.
 
 The appellate court first addressed Massey’s appeal regarding the tort issue, that without a finding of physical injury, Texas did not support a cause of action for infliction of emotional distress in a divorce action.  In support of his claim, Massey cited Chiles, but the court disagreed with his interpretation, and held that infliction of emotional distress without a claim of physical injury is a valid cause of action in Texas.
  The trial court rejected all three of his arguments and affirmed the lower court’s judgment.  Henry’s only hope lay with the Supreme Court of Texas.  
V. The Supreme Court

A. Twyman v. Twyman 

The Supreme Court of Texas accepted William’s application for writ of error to resolve whether “a claim for infliction of emotional distress [could] be brought in a divorce proceeding.”
  The case generated interest in the legal community and a number of briefs were filed by amicus curiae.  An insurance company, United States Automobile Association (USAA), filed one such brief,  stating its concerns that the tort of negligent infliction of emotional distress was being abused in an attempt to bring otherwise intentional acts within the scope of a homeowners’ insurance policy.
  The Women and the Law Section of the Texas State Bar took the position that negligent infliction of emotional distress was a tort with “a unique role in addressing women’s psychic injuries”
 and therefore should be allowed, while the Family Law Section of the Texas State Bar filed a brief that urged “caution” but took no position on whether a tort claim for infliction of emotional distress should be allowed between spouses.
  
In oral arguments before the Supreme Court of Texas,
 Douglas Becker representing William argued that if negligent or intentional infliction of emotional distress claims were allowed between spouses then every divorce suit could become a battle ground for he-said, she-said arguments about who was more emotionally injured by the actions of the other.
  Terry on the other hand, did not agree with that assertion. He argued that “floodgate” arguments were speculative and unlikely to actually occur.
 
During the arguments, the court attempted to define the parameters of the tort, by questioning the type of cases where it might be alleged, such as a spouse’s failure to pay child support,
 or when sex and money were an issue of contention within the marriage.
  While Becker responded that some of these hypotheticals could conceivably be a valid cause of action based on the lower court’s holding, Terry disagreed, stating that “lack of performance” alone would not give rise to a claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress.

One of the justices did question Becker on the issue of whether the claim before the Court that there was no cause of action for negligent or intentional infliction of emotional distress in a divorce action, had been previously brought to the attention of the lower courts.
  Becker’s response
 that the attorney in the trial court had raised the issue orally, and that it been properly briefed before the Court of Appeals was not questioned by the Court or refuted by Terry.  
Although there was nothing in the facts to suggest that insurance was a factor in the case, still the Justices heard oral arguments from amicus curiae, USAA, who took the position that the Court should step very carefully in allowing claims for negligent infliction of emotional distress especially as the general trend of the states seemed to be moving in the direction of not allowing the tort.
  Barry Chasnoff
, who represented USAA at the oral arguments, sought to make the Court aware of the perceived pitfalls of joining interspousal torts with divorce actions.

The possibility of spouses using this tort as a means of double recovery was also an issue that the judges explored, first with questions to Becker and then to Terry.
    Becker argued that by allowing an injured spouse a recovery based on their tort action in addition to the trial court’s consideration of fault in a disproportionate division of the marital estate, would in effect be giving that spouse a double recovery.
  Terry disagreed and informed the Court that this issue had already been addressed by courts taking the position that “the recovery for the tort is separate and apart from the division of the community property,” and that the trial court would merely have “the right to issue a judgment which could be satisfied out of separate property.”

The opinion issued by the Court only addressed was whether a spouse could sue another spouse for infliction of emotional distress in a divorce action.
  Since the Court had issued its opinion in Boyles v. Kerr, in which it abrogated negligent infliction of emotional distress as a separate cause of action, it specifically addressed and adopted the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress.

While the majority of the court agreed that intentional infliction of emotional distress was a valid independent cause of action, several opinions were issued.
  Five justices recognized the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress, although two would not have recognized it in a marital relationship.  One justice concurred in the plurality’s decision to reverse the appellate court’s judgment allowing recovery for negligent infliction of emotional distress, but dissented from the decision to remand the case to the lower court for trial on the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress.  Two justices dissented, disapproving of the plurality’s decision to restrict recovery for emotional distress to claims based upon intent. 
 Justice Cornyn
 joined by Justice Hightower held that the lower court’s decision could not be affirmed because the Court had abrogated the tort of negligent infliction of emotional distress in Boyles.
 However, the plurality found that Sheila had made a general claim for infliction of emotional distress, and so it looked to whether she could recover under the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress and determined that the evidence presented in the case seemed to support such a claim.
 Justice Cornyn adopted the elements of the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress as stated in §46 of the Second Restatement of Torts.
  The plurality then explored whether the tort could be brought in a divorce proceeding, and held that it could.
  Justice Cornyn also discussed practical aspects of the tort, such as encouraging the joinder of the tort with the divorce action,
 and advising the trial court to avoid awarding a double recovery in the event that these claims were tried together with the divorce action.

Chief Justice Phillips accepted the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress generally, but objected to recognizing it between spouses for conduct occurring during the marriage.
  Justice Hecht joined by Justice Enoch argued that given the split in the different jurisdictions, perhaps the tort should not be allowed between spouses,
 and Justice Hecht further argued that the tort should not be recognized in Texas at all.
  In his opinion the facts of Twyman illustrated that “intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress is too broad a rubric to describe actionable conduct.”
 Another point that Justice Hecht addressed was the plurality’s “lack of restraint in deciding a very important issue without requiring that it be raised in the lower courts and argued by the parties.”
 As he stated, “it is unusual for a court to recognize a cause of action for the first time in a case in which no party argues for the action and the evidence at trial does not support it.”
 He believed that the court’s actions left the trial courts and parties with “little guidance in future proceedings.”

Justice Spector’s dissent, in which she was joined by Justice Doggett, strongly disagreed with the plurality’s holding rejecting negligent infliction of emotional distress
.  In her opinion, by adopting the higher standard of intentional infliction of emotional distress, the court was in effect closing off a cause of action to women in need.
 
The case was remanded to the trial court to decide whether Sheila had a good claim of intentional infliction for emotional distress.
  
Sheila chose drop the claim rather than re-litigate.  The costs of re-litigating may have been the main factor in the decision.
  She did not even attempt to obtain a settlement from Bill.
  
B. Massey v. Massey
The Texas Supreme Court denied the writ of the application of error on the grounds that the issues raised on appeal had been resolved in Twyman.
  Justice Gammage issued a brief written opinion stating that the evidence was sufficient to support both the intentional and negligent inflection claims, but the court disapproved of the court of appeals language and holding on the negligent infliction claim.  It is interesting to note that five Justices concurred in the holding only in Twyman, but just a month later when the Court refused certiorari in Massey, all but two Justices seemed to support this legal principle.  

Justice Hecht wrote a written dissent to the majority’s decision to deny the writ, to which Justice Enoch concurred.  Justice Hecht raised his concerns that the jury had no objective standard or guidance by which to measure the “outrageousness” of Henry Massey’s conduct.
   In his opinion, without any such guidance, the jury might have been motivated by mere dislike of Henry, and the “only guideline to which the jury could resort was its own views of propriety.”
    
He makes his point, by summarizing the evidence in the case.  On one hand, “it is possible to view Henry’s conduct as outrageous, . . . [meaning] ‘so extreme in degree as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency and to be regarded as atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community.” 
  But on the other, it is equally possible to view his conduct as  “reprehensible, demeaning, and intimidating to Gayle, and destructive of their marriage – but not outrageous.”
   Justice Hecht also criticized Nichols’ closing arguments, labeling it “a plea to the jury to signify its own disapproval and that of the entire county, with Henry’s conduct.”  According to him, as a result of the lack of standards for the tort, Nichols’ rhetoric encouraged the jury to go beyond their role as “arbiters of the facts” and instead “to become moral policemen for the entire community.” 
  Although Justice Hecht’s comments are a valid criticism of the tort, what he failed to realize in this instance his criticism was unwarranted.  Nichols’ impassioned urging to the jury was an argument for assessing punitive damages against Henry – specifically directing the jury to teach him a lesson.

 Even so, unlike Sheila Twyman, and in spite of the court’s abrogation of negligent infliction of emotional distress as a separate cause of action, Gayle Massey did not lose any of the judgment awarded against her because the jury had not apportioned a specific amount to each claim.
 
VI. Aftermath of Twyman

The Court’s decisions in Twyman and Boyles were seen as a misogynistic court’s “insensitivity to [the] exploitation of women.”
  It was argued that the Court had taken a “powerful weapon” away that women otherwise could have used “to remedy a serious and on-going sex-based problem in our society.”
  However, in recognizing intentional infliction of emotional distress as a cause of action, and in limiting or rejecting claims for negligent infliction of emotional distress as a separate cause of action, the Supreme Court of Texas was merely joining the majority of jurisdictions that had already done so.

Womens’ activists complained that by eliminating negligent infliction of emotional distress as a cause of action and only allowing torts of intentional infliction of emotional distress to stand, the Court had set too high a standard for anybody wishing to bring such a cause of action.
  Subsequent cases seem to support that contention.
  Since the “outrageousness” element is a question of law, these claims are often determined by a judge.
  To define outrageous conduct, judges ask whether “the conduct has been so outrageous in character, and so extreme in degree, as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency, and to be regarded as atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community”
 and whether “an average member of the community would arouse his resentment against the actor ... to exclaim, ‘Outrageous!’”
  Thus, many of these claims are defeated on summary judgment before they reach the jury, on the grounds that the conduct is not sufficiently outrageous so as to shock the average member of the community.
  Given the difficulty a plaintiff has in proving conduct sufficiently outrageous to survive a motion for summary judgment, it is possible that if Massey came to trial in the present legal environment, Gayle might not have succeeded in her claim.  It is possible that given society’s present day relaxed sexual mores, that even William’s conduct might not be considered sufficiently “outrageous,” although the argument could be made that aside from the titillating facts, what made Williams conduct reprehensible was the fact that he knew his wife had been raped at knife-point and still sought to compel her participation in his extreme sexual activities.   
Finally, in arguing against allowing a tort of intentional (or negligent) infliction of emotional distress in a divorce action, Douglas Becker, William’s appellate attorney was concerned that the Court would be leaving the door open for a floodgate of tort claims in divorce actions.
  Sixteen years later, Becker freely admits that he was wrong.
  To his knowledge, very few claims of emotional distress have been brought, at least in Travis County, in a divorce action.
  He believes that the reasons for that are because it is a difficult standard to prove.  Additionally, it opens the door for the other side to make a similar claim.
  Also, often it is not worth the resulting fight regarding damages, unless the party being sued has a lot of separate property
 because in such cases a plaintiff can get a disproportionate share of the marital estate merely by proving to a judge or jury “what a jerk” the defendant is.
   
A. Twyman and Massey
The Supreme Court in Twyman laid out the standard of proof for a claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress, namely the behavior must be “so outrageous in character, and so extreme in nature, as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency, and be regarded as atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community.”
 

William’s conduct towards Sheila was not held to this standard because the claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress was not a cause of action in his trial, but Henry Massey’s conduct was.  If William’s conduct in Twyman had been set to this standard then it seems very likely that a judge (or a jury) might have found William liable for the  intentional infliction of emotional distress upon his wife.  Or would it?  LaRue, Terry’s associate explained that Terry chose to claim only negligent infliction of emotional distress because in his opinion it was the ‘easier’ tort to prove.  It was certainly foreseeable that William’s actions would cause Sheila emotional distress especially once he knew that she had experienced a traumatic rape at knife-point.  Terry certainly was not sure that it would have been as easy to establish that William’s conduct was intentional and sufficiently ‘outrageous’ to cause Sheila severe emotional distress.  Arguably, Terry had no reason to suppose that the Supreme Court would decide to abolish negligent infliction as an independent cause of action, but as result of his decision to allege only negligent infliction of emotional distress Sheila ultimately lost.  

Thus, in comparing the lawyering decisions in Twyman and Massey we can see how the initial decisions concerning the trial strategy had an impact on the final outcome of the case. Both Ted Terry and John Nichols are well-known and respected in their practice areas.  But by taking the choosing to bring suit for negligent infliction of emotional distress alone and possibly by waiving a jury trial, Terry made a erroneous judgment call that ultimately cost his client, not the monetary award, but also the validation she was seeking.  Similarly, Don Royall, Henry Massey’s attorney’s failure to object to the intentional infliction of emotional distress claim against his client or even to seek summary judgment on the issue, was a critical lawyering error,  We can only speculate, but if his objection had resulted in an evidentiary hearing, would the judge have allowed that claim to go before the jury? Or would the judge have ruled that Henry’s conduct was not sufficiently outrageous to “shock the community”?  
A straight comparison of the facts of both cases seems to indicate that emotional distress suffered by Sheila was caused by conduct more outrageous than Henry’s.  The fact that Sheila walked away with nothing, while Gayle was $362,000 richer seems solely attributable to the lawyering decisions made by attorneys involved in the case. 
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 Justice: 	The number one and number two causes of divorce in the United States are sex and money. 
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Becker: 	My position is that I do not have a problem with that cause of action - outside the marriage relationship. 





�  Id. 
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� Id.  


� Barry Chasnoff also represented the Appellant Dan Boyles before the Texas Supreme Court in Twyman’s companion case, Boyles v. Kerr.  There also he defended the case arguing that the plaintiff, Susan Kerr’s decision to file suit for negligent infliction of emotional distress for Boyles’ actions in videotaping their sexual encounter and publishing the video, was litigation tactic designed to access the ‘deep pockets’ of the insurance company. 


� Oral Arguments in Twyman, (“Your Honor, I’m involved in some cases at the lower court levels where these issues [eliminating interspousal torts from insurance coverage] are being raised at this time, the Supreme Court has not yet ruled upon that.  . . . And, the amicus USAA is not taking the position that in this case, that it is an uninsurable cause of action. . . . what we are trying to do is bring to the court’s attention, among other things, that if it is allowed . . ., and it is covered by insurance the impact will be substantial on the cost of the standard home owner’s policy. Because it puts the insurance company into virtually every divorce, every divorce situation where it is, where the lawyers are aware of the possibility, they are advising their clients that it may make sense to make a claim for negligent infliction for emotional distress  because that then gets counsel fees paid for and then the result is that the other side brings a counterclaim and then you’ve got, the home owners insurance consumers subsidizing or paying for the cost of divorce counsel around the state.  And, if if that gets built into the rate base, so be it, but it is something that the insurance company, that USAA feels that it is appropriate the Court be aware of as an aspect of this decision.”)  


� Id. 


� Id.


� Id. 


� Twyman, 855 S.W.2d at 620.


� Id.  


� Id.  Justice Gammage was on the appellate panel that decided Twyman and so recused himself from the decision in the Supreme Court. 


� John Cornyn is now a United States Senator from Texas. He was first elected in November 2000.  He was appointed to the Texas Supreme Court fin 1990 and served for seven years. 


� Twyman, 855 S.W.2d at 621.


� Id. 


� Id. 


� Id. at 624.


� Id. at 625. 


� Id.


� Id. at 628-29 (J. Phillips, concurring). 


� Id.  at 630 (J. Hecht, concurring and dissenting).


� Id. 


� Id. 


� Id. at 637. 


� Id. 


� Id. 


� Id. at 641-42 (J. Spector, dissenting).


� Id.  at 643-44.


� Id. at 625-26. 


� To the best of James LaRue’s recollection, Sheila did not pay their costs for the appeal. Telephone Interview with James LaRue, March 2, 2009.  


� Id. 


� Massey v. Massey, 867 S.W.2d 766 (Tex. 1993) (writ. denied).  The Supreme Court opinion in Twyman discussed Boyles, the opinion in which the Court abrogated negligent infliction of emotional distress as a separate cause of action. 


� Id. (J. Hecht, dissenting). 


� Id. 


� Id.


� Id. 


� Id. 


� Telephone Interview with John Nichols, March 7, 2009.  An urging they chose to ignore, as the jury did not asses specific punitive damages against him. Id. 


� Id. 


� James Harrington, Court Unkind to Women, Dallas Morning News at 29A, May 31, 1993. 


� Id. 


� Charles E. Cantu, An Essay on the Tort of Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress in Texas: Stop Saying It Doesn’t Exist, 33 St. Mary’s L.J. 455, 457 (2002) (exploring the tort of negligent infliction of emotional distress in Texas following Boyles, and concluding that it remains a recoverable cause of action.)  


� See Mae C. Quinn, The Garden Path of Boyles v. Kerr and Twyman v. Twyman: An Outrageous Response to Victims of Sexual Misconduct, 4 Tex. J. Women & L. 247 (1995) (examining sexbased intentional tort cases following the Boyles and Twyman opinions  and cocluding that such sexbased torts are not adequately addressed by this tort.)


� Id. at 258-62 (detailing examples of sexual harassment cases alleging intentional infliction of emotional distress which were dismissed on a motion for summary judgment on a judicial ruling that the conduct in question was not sufficiently outrageous.) 


� Id. at 253.


� Twyman, 855 S.W.2d at 621 (citing the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 46(a) cmt. d (1965)). 


� Mae C. Quinn, supra note 169 at 254. 


� Id. 


� Telephone Interview with Douglas Becker, Feb. 26, 2009.  


� Id. 


� Id. 


� Id. 	


� Id. 


� Id.


� Twyman, 855 S.W.2d at 621.
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